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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO 

 

 

AMIDOOLI PACHECO, 

Petitioner 

 

vs.          

 

BILLY MASSINGILL, WARDEN 

Regional Correctional Center 

 

GEORGE ZOLEY, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Geo Group, Inc 

& 

PUEBLO OF KEWA  

 (Formerly known as the Pueblo of Santo Domingo) 

Respondents 

 

 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS  

FOR  RELIEF FROM A TRIBAL COURT CONVICTION 

PURSUANT TO 25 U. S. C. §1303 

 

COMES NOW the Petitioner, AmiDooli Pacheco, by and through his counsel of record, 

Barbara L. Creel, Supervising Attorney, and Sherrie L. Harris, Clinical Law Student, at the  

Southwest Indian Law Clinic, University of New Mexico School of Law Clinical Law Programs 

and petitions this court for a Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 1302-1303.  The 

writ should issue based upon the following:  

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

1. Petitioner AmiDooli Pacheco (“Mr. Pacheco”) is an enrolled member of the Pueblo of 

Kewa (formerly the Pueblo of Santo Domingo) (“Indian Tribe”), a federally recognized Indian 

Tribe in New Mexico. See Fed. Reg. 74, 40221 (August 11, 2009).  

2. Mr. Pacheco resided within the exterior boundaries of the Pueblo of Kewa Reservation in 

New Mexico during all times relevant to this case.  
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3. On September 1, 2009, at approximately 11:00 P.M., Kewa Tribal Officials entered Mr. 

Pacheco’s home without consent while he was sleeping.  

4. The same night, after the illegal entry, Kewa Tribal Officials searched Mr. Pacheco’s 

home without his consent. Mr. Pacheco was detained in the kitchen area of his home, while the 

Tribal Officials entered his bedroom and searched through his dresser drawers. 

5. During the illegal search, Tribal Officials allegedly discovered contraband, and 

immediately placed Mr. Pacheco under arrest. Tribal Officials took him into the custody of the 

Indian Tribe, and transported him to the Sandoval County Jail, in Bernalillo, New Mexico that 

same night. He remained at the Sandoval County Jail without notice of the charges or an 

opportunity to be heard until the Indian Tribe held its first hearing three days later.  

6. On September 4, 2009, Mr. Pacheco was brought before the Indian Tribal Government 

Court. He was not given the opportunity to secure counsel at his own expense or request a trial 

on any charges. Mr. Pacheco pled guilty to five counts arising out of the illegal search. All 

charges arose from a single incident within the Indian Tribe's boundaries. 

7. On September 4, 2009, The Tribe sentenced Mr. Pacheco to two years of incarceration, 

and ordered him to pay $605.00 in fines and court costs. The Indian Tribe issued sentence and 

ordered him to be held at an off reservation jail not owned or operated by the Indian Tribe. 

8. The Indian Tribe took Mr. Pacheco into custody immediately after sentencing on 

September 4, based upon the illegal search, arrest and detention on September 1, 2009. He was 

incarcerated at the Sandoval County Jail, and later transferred to the Regional Correctional 

Center (“RCC”), a private jail in Albuquerque, New Mexico pursuant to the Tribal Court 

judgment and sentence, where he remains today. 
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9. Without any tribal right to appeal or relief, on December 14, 2009, Mr. Pacheco filed a 

pro se Request for Right to Appeal and a Violation of Rights to the United States Department of 

the Interior Board of Indian Appeals. 

10. On December 29, 2009, the Department of the Interior Board of Indian Appeals docketed 

then dismissed Mr. Pacheco’s appeal. A copy of the denial and dismissal is attached as 

Petitioner’s Exhibit A. 

11. On March 8, 2010, Mr. Pacheco obtained counsel through the Southwest Indian Law 

Clinic, Clinical Law Program at the University of New Mexico School of Law. 

12. On April 6, 2010, Counsel for Mr. Pacheco requested copies of Mr. Pacheco’s Tribal 

Court documents, specifically requesting copies pertaining to the conviction and sentence, and 

the order of detention from the Indian Tribe. 

13. On April 26, 2010, Counsel for Mr. Pacheco again requested copies of the Tribal Court 

documents, this time addressing the request to the Governor of the Pueblo, Tony Tortalita. In 

addition, the letter requested a meeting to discuss a tribal remedy to resolve Mr. Pacheco’s illegal 

detention and requested a response date of May 4, 2010. 

14. The Pueblo of Kewa did not respond to Counsel’s requests, nor did they provide any 

information pertaining to Mr. Pacheco’s case, or identify any available tribal remedies. 

15. Unable to obtain the underlying court documents from the Indian Tribe, on June 26, 

2010, Mr. Pacheco requested for copies of the order of detention or other original jail 

commitment papers from the RCC. A copy of the Detainee Communication Form is attached as 

Exhibit B. 
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16. On June 20, 2010, the Regional Correctional Center denied the request and declined to   

provide any documents. Instead, the RCC directed Mr. Pacheco to obtain these documents 

directly from the Kewa Pueblo Tribal Court. The RCC response is attached as Exhibit C. 

17. On or about July 15, 2010, Counsel for Mr. Pacheco visited the Pueblo of Kewa and 

Governor Tortalita to learn more about procedures specific to the Kewa Pueblo Tribal Court. A 

second meeting to discuss specific cases was scheduled for July 19, 2010.  

18. On July 15, 2010, Counsel for Mr. Pacheco attempted to file an Entry of Appearance and 

a Motion to Reconsider Sentence with the Kewa Pueblo Tribal Court. The entry of appearance 

was denied by Wilson Quintana, a Kewa Tribal Court Clerk. A copy of the proposed entry is 

attached as Exhibit D.  

19.  On July 19, 2010, the scheduled meeting with the government officials or Kewa Tribal 

Court was cancelled by the Indian Tribe.  

20. As of the date of filing, the Counsel for Mr. Pacheco has not received any of the 

requested documents, nor received a response from the Pueblo of Kewa denying his request or 

identifying any available process or tribal remedy. Mr. Pacheco has exhausted all appropriate 

tribal remedies and this Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (“Petition”), follows pursuant to 25 

U.S.C. § 1303. Based on the above, this Court has jurisdiction to hear this Petition and venue is 

proper in the Federal District Court of New Mexico, as Mr. Pacheco remains in custody pursuant 

to the Pueblo of Kewa Tribal Court’s order and is currently incarcerated in New Mexico. The 

underlying arrest, detention, and sentence are illegal and in violation of the Indian Civil Rights 

Act. Mr. Pacheco is entitled to immediate habeas corpus relief based on the following violations. 
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I.  THE INDIAN TRIBE VIOLATED MR. PACHECO'S RIGHT TO BE SECURE IN 

HIS HOUSE,PAPERS, AND EFFECTS,  AS WELL AS HIS RIGHT AGAINST 

UNREASONABLE SEARCH AND SEIZURE UNDER THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS 

ACT (ICRA) 25 U.S.C. §1302(2)  

 

Concise Statement of Facts in support of Claim I 

The Indian Tribe, in exercising its powers of self-government, entered Mr. Pacheco’s residence 

without his permission or consent, and without a valid warrant to conduct an illegal search of his 

home. When the Kewa Tribal Officials entered his home, again without consent, it was at 

approximately 11:00 P.M., and Mr. Pacheco was asleep in bed. Mr. Pacheco was awakened and 

thought there was an intruder in his home. He went to the front of the residence, and Tribal 

Officials were standing inside. While being questioned by one of the Tribal Officials in his 

kitchen, the other Tribal Officials went and searched through his dresser drawers and personal 

belongings in the bedroom.  The Indian Tribe has not attempted to provide or establish the basis 

for probable cause to conduct a search of the home. By entering into the home without consent, a 

valid warrant or a showing of probable cause, the incursion made by the Tribe into a private 

residence at a late hour was unreasonable and unjust, and in violation of his right to be free from 

unreasonable search and seizure under ICRA.  

II. THE INDIAN TRIBE VIOLATED MR. PACHECO'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL  

GUARANTEED UNDER THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT (ICRA) 25 U.S.C. §1302(6).  

 

Concise Statement of Facts in support of Claim II  

The Indian Tribe, in exercising its powers of self-government, denied Mr. Pacheco the 

right to counsel. The Indian Civil Rights Act provides that a defendant may have the assistance 

of counsel at his own expense at criminal proceedings. 25 U.S.C. § 1302(6). At the time of arrest 

on September 1, 2009, Mr. Pacheco was not advised of his right to obtain counsel, nor was he 

afforded sufficient opportunity to obtain counsel. Tribal Officials gave no notice of how long he 
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would be in custody or the date of his next proceeding. He had no opportunity to request for an 

attorney while in jail between the arrest and the plea hearing. Instead, Mr. Pacheco was ushered 

into pro se representation in violation of the Indian Civil Rights Act.  At the September 4, 2009, 

hearing and sentencing, he was not allowed to retain counsel at his own expense. Furthermore, 

Mr. Pacheco was again denied the assistance of counsel on July 15, 2010, when the entry of 

appearance by the UNM Clinical Law Program was denied.  

III. THE INDIAN TRIBE VIOLATED MR. PACHECO'S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL 

UNDER THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT WHEN IT FAILED TO PROVIDE HIM 

WITH A JURY TRIAL 

 

Concise Statement of Facts in support of Claim III  

The Indian Tribe failed to inform Mr. Pacheco of his right to request a jury trial. The Indian 

Tribe's failure to appoint competent counsel or allow him to obtain counsel prevented him from 

exercising his statutory right to request a jury trial under the ICRA pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 

1302(10).  The Indian Tribe denied Mr. Pacheco due process of law under the ICRA by failing to 

provide him with a jury trial or at a minimum advise him, as a pro se defendant, of his right to 

request one. 

IV. THE INDIAN TRIBE DEPRIVED MR. PACHECO OF HIS LIBERTY WITHOUT 

DUE PROCESS OF LAW AS REQUIRED UNDER THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 

(ICRA) 25 U.S.C. §1302(8). 

 

Concise Statement of Facts in support of Claim IV  

The Indian Tribe, in exercising its powers of self-government, has denied due process of law 

when it failed to notify Mr. Pacheco of the charges he faced, nor of the maximum penalties for a 

violation of the law. The Kewa Pueblo Tribal Court failed to provide pertinent information with 

regard to the actual sentence imposed on Mr. Pacheco, or any right to review or appeal. Once 

Mr. Pacheco secured his own counsel, the Indian Tribe denied Mr. Pacheco the right to be 
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represented in any tribal proceeding when it failed to recognize or allow counsel to enter an 

appearance or otherwise inform Mr. Pacheco of the rules that would allow proper representation 

in tribal proceedings. As set forth in the facts above, the Indian Tribe has denied Mr. Pacheco the 

opportunity to obtain copies of any record of his conviction. The Indian Tribe has refused all 

attempts to obtain this information, and Mr. Pacheco is being detained at the word of the Kewa 

Pueblo Tribal Court Officials. A Tribe may elect to provide greater protections that those offered 

by ICRA, but not less. Unless a Tribe offers to provide greater protection, the Indian Civil Rights 

Act provides the minimum, and sometimes the only protections guaranteed to defendants 

appearing in tribal courts. As a result of these violations, Mr. Pacheco has been denied access to 

a fair hearing and has been deprived of his liberty without due process of law. 

V. THE INDIAN TRIBE VIOLATED MR. PACHECO'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS 

UNDER THE ICRA WHEN IT IMPOSED A PENALTY IN EXCESS OF THE 

STATUTORY MAXIMUM UNDER THE INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT (ICRA) 25 

U.S.C. §1302(7).  

 

Concise Statement of Facts in support of Claim V  

The Indian Civil Rights Act imposes a sentencing limit for Indian Tribes. Under 25 

U.S.C.§1302(7), an Indian Tribe may in no event impose a sentence greater that one year 

imprisonment and/or a $5000.00 fine. In this instance, the Pueblo of Kewa sentenced Mr. 

Pacheco to two years in jail in direct violation of ICRA’s statutory limit. All charges arose from 

a single incident within the Indian Tribe's boundaries on or about September 1, 2009. Therefore 

the Tribe must conform to the one year sentencing limitation imposed by ICRA. Mr. Pacheco has 

served the maximum statutory sentence as of September 1, 2010, the Tribe continues to deprive 

him of his liberty and Mr. Pacheco is entitled to immediate relief.  
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VI. MR. PACHECO’S RIGHTS AS A UNITED STATES CITIZEN  ARE VIOLATED  

BY CONTINUED INCARCERATION IN A PRIVATE JAIL FACILITY PURSUANT TO 

A CONTRACT PAID FOR BY FEDERAL FUNDS WHEN THE DETENTION IS 

ILLEGAL AND CONTRARY TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE 

INDIAN CIVIL RIGHTS ACT. 

 

Concise Statement of Facts in support of Claim VI  

Mr. Pacheco is a U.S. citizen and a Veteran of the Armed Forces, having served in the United 

States Marine Corps. He is entitled to constitutional protections afforded to all Americans. His 

current incarceration, whether or not in violation of the ICRA violates his right to due process 

and his right to a fair hearing. Mr. Pacheco is being illegally detained by the Tribe, and since the 

contract that the Indian Tribe has with the private jail facility is paid for by the federal 

government, the detention must be lawful and not in violation of the United States Constitution.  

 

CONCLUSION 

 WHEREFORE, Mr. Pacheco respectfully requests that this Court: (1) issue the writ of 

habeas corpus commanding Respondents to release Mr. Pacheco from their custody immediately; 

or in the alternative, (2) hold an expedited evidentiary hearing to inquire as to the legality of the 

detention, and (3)  grant any other further relief that this Court deems just and proper. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

        
/s/ Barbara Creel     /s/ Sherrie L. Harris 

____________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Barbara Creel      Sherrie L. Harris 
Attorney for Petitioner AmiDooli Pacheco  Clinical Law Student for Petitioner 

Southwest Indian Law Clinic  

University of New Mexico School of Law 

MSC11-6070 

1 University of New Mexico 

Albuquerque, NM 87131-0001 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
        
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 28th day of September, 2010,  

I filed the foregoing electronically through the CM/ECF system,  

and that on such date I served the foregoing on the following  

non-CM/ECF Participants in the manner indicated: 

 

Via first class mail addressed as follows: 

 

George Zoley, Chief Executive Officer 

Geo Group, Inc.  

Regional Correctional Center 

415 Roma Ave. NW 

Albuquerque, NM 87031 

 

Billy Massingill, Warden 

Regional Correctional Center 

415 Roma Ave. NW 

Albuquerque, NM 87031 

 

Pueblo of Kewa 

P.O. Box 99 

Santo Domingo, NM 87052 

 

Electronically filed 

/s/Barbara Creel 

Attorney for Petitioner  
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PETITIONER PACHECO'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS PURSUANT TO 25 US.C.1303 

EXHIBIT A 

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, 
INTERIOR BOARD OF INDIAN APPEALS, 

ORDER DOCKETING AND DISMISSING APPEAL 
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United States Department of the Interior 
OFFICE 01: HEARINGS AND APPEALS 

INTEKIOli UOAliD OF LNDIAN APPEALS 
601 NOIITH QUlNCY STREET 

SUITE 300 

,4MIDOOLT J. PACHECO, ) Order Dockeciug ,~nd 
Appelliult, 1 Dismissing Appe'll 

j 
V. ) 

) Doclcet No. IBlA 10-033 
GOL'ERNOR, SANTO DOMING0 ) 

PUEBLO, 1 
Appellee. ) December 29, 2009 

On Decen~ber 14, 2009, the Board of Inclia11 Appeals received a "Request for Rght 
to Appeal and Violation of Rights" from Arnidooli J. l'acheco (Appell~nt),  iri which 
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seeks to appcal the Governor's decision. 
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Trkbal Water Compnzt, 50 IRIA 250 (20091, Lmcl uses cited therein. Thus, whether 
Appellant is seelung directly to ,ippeal a tribdl conviction or sentence, or seehng a writ of 
h ~ b c a s  corpus, thc Board laclis jurjsdlctjon. S ~ C  Tisstdimit Y .  Shoshone-Bannock Tdes,  
32 IBIA 15 (1998). O r ~ l y  n rr~bal court (or other cribdl forum) or a Federal court h ~ s  
authority to  gram Appe1I;ult the I-clicf hc seeks. Id. 

Therefore, pursumt to rhc authoritv cleicgated ro the Bo,ird of Inr!l<~n Appe~ l s  by the 
S e c r ~ t ~ ~ r y  of thc Interior, 43 C.F.1I. 5 4.1, the Board dockets this ,-rppcal but d~srnisscs ~t f c ~  
laclc of jurisdicrion. 

I concur: 

a*;,\ 
e ora G. Luthc 

Chiuf Acli:~ii~is r r ~ t i v c  Judgc Administrative Judge 

5 1 IBIA 34 
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PETITIONER PACHECO'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS PURSUANT TO 25 U.S.C. 1303 

EXHIBIT B 

MR. PACHECO'S DETAINEE CO-MMUNTCATION FORM 
REQUESTING COPIES OF HIS TRIBAL COMMITMENT 
ORDERS FROM THE KEWA PUEBLO TRIBAL COURT 

Case 1:10-cv-00923-RB-WDS   Document 1-3    Filed 09/28/10   Page 1 of 2



R.eglclial Corrc~tlcna! Center 

DETAINEE COMM-UNXCATION FORM 

NAhlE DATE 60 26. '10 

D#- ~ ~ \ Q c s ~ ~ u ? I  HOUSING UNIT. 3 ?-;> 
All hnlat?. C ' o m m ~ ~ i c a h o n  kquests are to  be submltred to the Case  manage,^ F ~ m r  itye t r ~  bp. printed, leg~ble,  and 
com~lctc Thc detalnce : Name, n# and housmg unit are xequlred The C~?rnpIet~,d form should be de.postted ~ n t h e  
detamee h.la~ltur.eslocated UI detameehouslng The Case managerwlll r e v ~ c w  d l  requests f ~ r  comp!eteness and 
roui~rl g 

Route to: (check one) 

Programs Dlx~.ctor Prope.r(>: O f f i ~ e r  Kecrrmou Officer Chaplarn 

.- Com~lrssary Buslness Office Health Sel vices Dlsciplmary Officer 

Library (Book request by tltlc) Case manage.1 

Specify Request (print legibly) 
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PETITIONER PACHECO'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS PURSUANT TO 25 U.S.C. 1303 

EXHIBIT C 

RESPONSE RECEIVED FROM THE REGIONAL 
CORRECTIONAL CENTEK REGARDING 

MR. PACHECO'S REQUEST FOR COPIES OF 
COMhlllTMENT ORDERS FROM 

THE KEWA PUEBLO TRTBAL COURT 
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PETITIONER PACHECO'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
HABEAS CORPUS PURSUANT TO 25 U.S.C. 1303 

EXHIBIT D 

PROPOSED ENTRY OF APPEARANCE 
BY THE SOUTHWEST INDIAN LAW CLINIC 
WITH THE KEWA PUEBLO TRIBAL COURT 
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IN TlIE PIIEBLO OF KEWA TRIBAL COURT 
COUNTY OF' SANDOVAL 
STATE OF NEW MEXICO 

PUEBLO OF K\;EWA, 

Plaia tiff, 

Case number not provided 
BIA #09100903 

AMIDOOLI PACHECO, 

Defendant. 

ENTRY OF APPEARANCE 

COME NOW Sarah Parks, UNM ClinicaI Law Student AND Aliza Org'mick. 

supcrvtsing attorney, and enter their appearance as co-counsel of record for AmiUooli Fadleco 

~n the above-captioned matter. 

Respectfully submitted this day of July, 201 0, by 

Clinical Law Student 
Southwest Jnd~an Law Clinic 
University of Ncw Mexico 
MSCi 1-6070 Room 2540 
Albuquerque, NM 87 I3 1-000 1 
(505) 277-5265 

AIiza Organick 
i 

Attorney for Defendant 
Southwest Indian Law Clinic 
University of New Mexico 
MSC 1 1-6070 Room 2540 
Albuquerque, NM 87 13 1-0001 
(505) 277-5265 
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